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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHERAGIEES

Glossary
A 5

In this annual report, the following definitions apply throughout
unless otherwise stated. All other capitalised terms shall have the
same meanings as defined in the circular dated 5 March 2010

(“the Circular”) unless otherwise stated in this annual report.

2012 Interim Distribution means the interim distribution of
HK$0.305 per unit declared and announced on 3 May 2012
comprising the available cash resources of RREEF China
Commercial Trust (“"RREEF CCT" or the "Trust”). Cheques for the
per unit payment pursuant to the 2012 Interim Distribution were
dispatched on 11 May 2012 to the unitholders whose names
appeared on the register of unitholders of RREEF CCT (the
“Unitholders”) on 23 April 2010. For details please refer to the
Distribution Statement on page 53 of this annual report.

2010 Interim Distribution means the interim distribution of
HK$4.10 per unit declared and announced on 15 April 2010
comprising the sales proceeds of the Disposal and available cash
resources of RREEF CCT. Cheques for the per unit payment
pursuant to the 2010 Interim Distribution were dispatched on 11
May 2010 to the Unitholders on 23 April 2010.

30 June 2011 Judgment means the judgment of the High Court
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") issued
on 30 June 2011 in relation to the Court Application.

3 May 2012 Announcement means the announcement of RREEF
CCT dated 3 May 2012 in relation to, amongst other things, the
2012 Interim Distribution.

27 February 2013 Announcement means the announcement of
RREEF CCT dated 27 February 2013 in relation to, amongst other
things, the SFC Waiver and the Revised Arrangements.

Appeal means the appeal lodged by Mr. Tin Lik against the 30
June 2011 Judgment on 13 July 2011.
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Glossary
R

Claims means collectively the claims made by Mr. Tin Lik pursuant
to the Writ. For details, please refer to the Liquidation Section on

page 7 in this annual report.

Court Application means the application which the Trustee has
resolved to make to the Hong Kong courts for directions regarding
the proper amount to be distributed to Unitholders in the Final

Distribution.
DB means Deutsche Bank AG.

Disposal means the disposal of the entire issued share capital of
Beijing Gateway Plaza (BVI) Limited (“BVI Gateway") by the
Trustee (acting as trustee of RREEF CCT) to Mapletree India China
Fund Ltd pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 3
February 2010.

Final Determination means the Claims being finally adjudicated

by the Court or otherwise being withdrawn or determined.

Final Distribution means the distribution of the balance of cash
resources of RREEF CCT (if any), after the Claims have been finally
adjudicated (or otherwise withdrawn or determined) and after
satisfaction of outstanding payments to creditors, reserves for
liguidation costs and costs associated with the Claims to the
Unitholders.

Judgment of the Appeal means the judgment of the High Court
of HKSAR issued on 21 December 2011 in relation to the Appeal.

Manager’s Undertakings means the undertakings by the
Manager in relation to the Revised Arrangements as set out in
paragraphs 3.1.3, 3.2.3, 3.3.3 and 3.4.3 of the 27 February 2013

Announcement.

Original Estimated Liquidation timetable means in the 2010
Interim Report, it was disclosed that, barring unforeseen
circumstances, RREEF China REIT Management Limited (the
“Manager”) estimates that the Proposed Liquidation, the
Proposed Delisting and the Proposed Deauthorisation would be

completed by 31 December 2010.

Property means Beijing Gateway Plaza.
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHERAGIEES

Proposed Deauthorisation means the proposed deauthorisation
of RREEF CCT as a REIT by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC") under section 104 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"). The Manager will
make application to the SFC on behalf of RREEF CCT for the
Proposed Deauthorisation upon completion of the Proposed
Liguidation.

Proposed Delisting means the proposed delisting of RREEF CCT units
from the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). The
Manager has made application to the SEHK in relation to the Proposed
Delisting in March 2010. The effective date and arrangement of the
Proposed Delisting are subject to the SEHK's approval.

Proposed Liquidation means the proposed liquidation of RREEF
CCT in accordance with the trust deed between the Manager and
the Trustee dated 28 May 2007 (the “Trust Deed”) and the Code

on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code") published by
the SFC. The Manager has commenced procedures in respect of

the Proposed Liquidation since 12 May 2010, being the effective

date of the Termination.

Provision Amount shall have the same meaning as defined in 3

May 2012 Announcement.

Revised Arrangements means the revised arrangements of
RREEF CCT in respect of certain corporate governance
requirements and/or best industry practices under GP6 or the
Authorisation Letter applicable to RREEF CCT, details and
conditions of which are set out in the 27 February 2013

Announcement.

SFC Waiver means the waiver applied for by the Manager, and
granted by the SFC, from strict compliance by RREEF CCT with the
requirement to publish any preliminary interim/annual results
announcement under the general disclosure obligation under
paragraph 10.3 of the REIT Code, details of which are set out in the
27 February 2013 Announcement.

Supplemental Deed means the supplemental deed dated 27
February 2013 between the Manager and the Trustee which is

supplemental to and amends the Trust Deed.
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Glossary
R

Termination means the termination of RREEF CCT in accordance
with the REIT Code. The effective date of the Termination was 12
May 2010.

Tin Lik means the vendor, the original owner of the Property which
was sold to RREEF CCT in June 2007.

Trustee’s Notice means the notice dated 29 October 2010
published by the Trustee in the Government of HKSAR Gazette,
certain newspapers and other public channels pursuant to section
29 of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) which provides amongst other things, that any person (other
than a Unitholder) who claims to be entitled to the assets of
RREEF CCT and/or is otherwise interested in them, is required to
send full particulars of its/his/her claim to the Trustee before 12
noon (Hong Kong time) on 30 December 2010. No claims were

received by the Trustee in relation to the Trustee's Notice.

Writ means the writ of summons issued by Mr. Tin Lik on 5 July
2011 in the High Court of HKSAR as plaintiff against DB as first
defendant, the Manager as second defendant and the Trustee as
third defendant. For details, please refer to the Liquidation Section

on page 7 in this annual report.
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Unit price as at the end of the period
The highest unit price traded during the period
The highest premium of the unit price

to the net asset value
The lowest unit price traded during the period
The highest discount of the unit price

to the net asset value
Market capitalisation as at the end of the period

Public float as at the end of the period

Net asset value attributable to Unitholders
as at the end of the period

Net asset value per unit as at the end
of the period

Total/annualised distribution yield per unit
as at 31 December

Total number of units in issue as at the
end of the period
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The trading of RREEF CCT units was suspended, since 19 April 2010 and shall remain suspended until the effective

date of Proposed Delisting.

This is not applicable as the net asset value was based on the value date of 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010
respectively while the closing unit price of RREEF CCT was based on the closing unit price on 19 April 2010.

This is not applicable as the trading of RREEF CCT units has been suspended since 19 April 2010, being the last

trading date until the effective date of Proposed Delisting.

This is not applicable as there is no interim and final distribution of RREEF CCT for 2011.
This is not applicable as the 2012 Interim Distribution comprised distribution from available cash resources of RREEF
CCT while 2010 Interim Distribution comprised distribution from sales proceeds of the Disposal and available cash

resources of RREEF CCT.

Based on the closing unit price as at 31 December of the respective period.
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The Manager’'s Report
BEARSE

Dear Unitholder,

In the year 2012, from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012 (the
“Reporting Period”), RREEF CCT's performance was outlined as

below:

Key Highlights

The net asset value attributable to the Unitholders totalled

HK$9.52 million or HK$0.021 per unit as at 31 December 2012.

RREEF CCT made a loss for the Reporting Period of HK$4.20
million.

On 11 May 2012, all cheques representing the 2012 Interim
Distribution in an aggregate amount of HK$141.6 million (being
HK$0.305 per Unit) were despatched to the relevant
Unitholders by ordinary post.

As at 31 December 2012, the cash balance held by the Trust is
HK$53.54 million.

The Trust is in the process of the Proposed Liquidation.

As disclosed in the 3 May 2012 Announcement, the Proposed
Delisting and the Proposed Deauthorisation will occur as soon
as practicable after the Claims have been finally adjudicated by
the High Court of HKSAR (or otherwise withdrawn or
determined) and after all of the assets of RREEF CCT at that
time (if any) have been distributed to Unitholders pursuant to
the Proposed Liquidation.

Proceedings in relation to the Claims are on-going and the
Claims are being vigorously defended by DB, the Manager and
the Trustee.

The Writ has been set down for trial at the High Court of
HKSAR from 16 to 30 September 2013.
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e The Manager applied for, and the SFC granted with effect from
26 February 2013, the SFC Waiver. Following consultation with
the SFC, the Manager implemented the Revised
Arrangements with effect from 27 February 2013.

Liquidation

Writ of Summons issued by Mr. Tin Lik

On 5 July 2011, Mr. Tin Lik issued a writ of summons in the High
Court of HKSAR as plaintiff against DB as first defendant, the
Manager as second defendant and the Trustee as third defendant.

Pursuant to the Writ, Mr. Tin Lik makes certain Claims, including

amongst others:

1. against DB, the Manager and the Trustee, jointly and severally,
challenging the amount under the set-off and claiming,
amongst other things, an entitlement to the Initial Retention
Amount' and an amount of HK$289,426,166 which Mr. Tin Lik
claims to be refundable by the Trustee and/or the Manager;
and

2. against DB and the Manager, jointly and severally for
unspecified general damages.

The opinion of board of directors (the “Board”) and the Trustee, on
the basis of legal advice, is that the Claims are wholly without
merit and are being vigorously defended by DB, the Manager and
the Trustee. The Writ has been set down for trial at the High Court
of HKSAR from 16 to 30 September 2013. The Manager will
continue to update Unitholders as to any material developments in
connection with the Claims.

Note:

1. Initial Retention Amount includes (i) retention sum of HK$156 million (US$20
million) held by the Trustee as security pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement dated 4 June 2007 between Mr. Tin Lik as vendor, the Trustee as
purchaser and the Manager in respect of warranties made by the vendor therein;
(i) remaining balance of initial consideration unpaid to the vendor amounting of
HK$64.95 million; and (i) HK$50 million dividend declared by BVI Gateway in
respect of year ended 31 December 2006 payable to the vendor prior to
acquisition by RREEF CCT.
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The Manager’s Report
EEARE

2012 Interim Distribution

As disclosed in the 3 May 2012 Announcement, the Manager and
the Trustee had reached agreement to take steps to proceed with
an interim distribution of the majority of the net assets of RREEF
CCT to the Unitholders.

On 11 May 2012, all cheques representing the 2012 Interim
Distribution in an aggregate amount of HK$141.6 million (being
HK$0.305 per Unit) were despatched to the relevant Unitholders
by ordinary post.

Final Distribution

After the Claims have been finally adjudicated by the Court (or
otherwise withdrawn or determined), the balance of cash
resources of RREEF CCT (if any), after the satisfaction of
outstanding payments to creditors, liquidation costs and costs
associated with the Claims, will be potentially available for Final
Distribution.

The Proposed Delisting and the Proposed Deauthorisation will now
occur as soon as practicable after the Claims have been finally
adjudicated by the Court (or otherwise withdrawn or determined)
and after all of the assets of RREEF CCT at that time (if any) have
been distributed to Unitholders pursuant to the Final Distribution.

The Manager will update Unitholders by further announcement as
soon as reasonably practicable in relation to any material
development and the timetable for the Final Distribution by RREFF
CCT, the Proposed Liguidation, the Proposed Delisting and the
Proposed Deauthorisation in accordance with applicable regulatory

requirements.

Arrangement regarding the balance of the Provision
Amount, and the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed
Delisting and the Proposed Deauthorisation

As disclosed in the 3 May 2012 Announcement, subject to
withdrawals for settlement of costs and expenses as they arise
from time to time, the Trustee will hold the balance of the
Provision Amount on trust for the Unitholders pursuant to the Trust
Deed until the Claims have been finally adjudicated by the Court (or

otherwise withdrawn or determined).
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As disclosed in the 3 May 2012 Announcement, as soon as
practicable after the Claims have been finally adjudicated by the
High Court of HKSAR (or otherwise withdrawn or determined), and
after all costs, fees, expenses and other payables and accruals of
RREEF CCT (including costs and expenses of the Manager and the
Trustee) have been paid, pursuant to the Proposed Liquidation the
balance of the Provision Amount (if any) shall be distributed to
Unitholders on a pro-rata basis in proportion to the Units they hold,
in each case, as of the date of the final liquidation of RREEF CCT.
In the event there is a shortfall in the Provision Amount and there
are additional costs, fees and expenses incurred in the name of
either the Manager, the Trustee or RREEF CCT which are not
covered by the Provision Amount, they will be borne by the
Manager and/or the Trustee in such proportions as agreed between
themselves. Accordingly, in such event, there will be no claims

against Unitholders in respect of any such liabilities.

The Manager will update Unitholders by further announcement as
soon as reasonably practicable as to the details of any proposed
next steps and the timetable in relation to the Proposed
Liguidation, the Proposed Delisting and the Proposed
Deauthorisation in accordance with applicable regulatory

requirements.
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The Manager’s Report
EEARE

SFC Waiver and the Revised Arrangements

The Manager applied for, and the SFC granted with effect from 26
February 2013, the SFC Waiver, subject to the SFC Waiver
conditions, and based on the reasons, set out in the 27 February
2013 Announcement. Separately, following consultation with the
SFC, the Manager implemented the Revised Arrangements with
effect from 27 February 2013, subject to the Manager'’s
Undertakings, and based on the reasons, set out in the 27 February
2013 Announcement. Unitholders should note that:

e On the basis that: (i) after completion of the Disposal on 12
April 2010, RREEF CCT no longer had any on-going business
operations or operating assets; (ii) on 12 May 2010, RREEF
CCT was effectively terminated in accordance with the REIT
Code; (iii) the Manager and Trustee have commenced
procedures in respect of the Proposed Liquidation, the
Proposed Delisting and the Proposed Deauthorisation (all of
which are still on-going pending the Final Determination), and
in the mean time the only asset of RREEF CCT is cash, the
Manager is of the view that the SFC Waiver and the Revised
Arrangements are in the best interests of the Unitholders to
minimise unnecessary costs to be incurred by RREEF CCT

pending the Final Determination;

e SFC Waiver: the Manager has applied to the SFC, and has
been granted with effect from 26 February 2013, the SFC
Wiaiver, from strict compliance with requirement for RREEF
CCT to publish preliminary interim results/annual results
announcement under the general disclosure obligation under
paragraph 10.3 of the REIT Code, subject to the SFC Waiver

conditions set out in the 27 February 2013 Announcement;

e Revised Arrangements: the Revised Arrangements relate to
the following requirements and/or best industry practices
applicable to RREEF CCT:

(a) requirement under the authorisation letter with regard
to minimum number of INEDs: with effect from 27
February 2013 and subject to the Manager’s Undertakings,
RREEF CCT will have one INED on the Board, instead of

three as currently required;
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(b) requirement under the authorisation letter and the
best industry practice pursuant to GP6 with regard to
establishment of the Committees: with effect from 27
February 2013 and subject to the Manager’'s Undertakings,
each of the Committees of the Board will cease to exist,
and the functions of the Committees will be assumed and
performed by the remaining Directors (whilst always

including the remaining INED);

(c) best industry practice pursuant to GP6 with regard to
requirement for RREEF CCT to hold an annual general
meeting of Unitholders at least once in every calendar
year: with effect from 27 February 2013 and subject to
the Manager's Undertakings, RREEF CCT will no longer be
required to hold an annual general meeting of Unitholders
at least once in every calendar year; and

(d) best industry practice pursuant to GP6 with regard to
minimum number of Board meetings per calendar
year: with effect from 27 February 2013 and subject to
the Manager’s Undertakings, the Board will hold a
minimum of two Board meetings per year, instead of four
as currently required; and

e Amendment of the Trust Deed pursuant to the
Supplemental Deed: to implement the Revised Arrangement
set out in paragraph 3.3.2 of the 27 February 2013
Announcement, on 27 February 2013, the Manager and the
Trustee entered into the Supplemental Deed (see paragraph 5
of the 27 February 2013 Announcement for further details).

The Manager will continue to update Unitholders by further
announcements as soon as reasonably practicable after the
occurrence of any material events in relation to RREEF CCT in
accordance with applicable regulatory requirements, including but
not limited to any changes to the board of directors of the Manager

resulting from the implementation of the Revised Arrangements.
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The Manager’s Report
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Financial Performance

As a result of the completion of Disposal in April 2010, RREEF CCT
ceased to hold any interests in BVI Gateway and its subsidiaries,
which constituted substantially all of the operating business and
relevant assets of RREEF CCT and its subsidiaries.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Trust recorded a loss of
HK$4.20 million. The net asset value attributable to the Unitholders
was reduced from HK$155.3 million or HK$0.335 per unit as at 31
December 2011 to HK$9.52 million or HK$0.021 per unit as at 31
December 2012, as a result of 2012 Interim Distribution of
HK$141.6 million paid to Unitholders on 11 May 2012.

Financial Management

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Trust retained HK$53.54
million in cash and bank balances.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Period were HK$4.44
million and included the Manager's fee, Trustee'’s fee, auditor's

remuneration, legal and other professional fees.

Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders

The net assets attributable to Unitholders as at 31 December 2012
totalled HK$9.52 million, or HK$0.021 per unit.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2012, the total number of RREEF CCT units in
issue was 464,161,000 units. No units were cancelled or issued
during the Reporting Period.
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The Outlook
& &

Proposed Liquidation (ongoing)

Since the effective date of the Termination on 12 May 2010, the
Manager has commenced procedures relating to the Proposed
Liquidation in compliance with the REIT Code and the Trust Deed
and all applicable regulatory requirements. Please refer to page 7

for details on the progress of the Proposed Liquidation.

In compliance with Rules 11.8 to 11.10 of the REIT Code and the
terms of the Trust Deed, following the completion of the
Termination, the Trustee shall, as part of the process of the
Proposed Liquidation, oversee the realisation of any remaining
assets of RREEF CCT by the Manager. In addition, the Trustee shall
ensure that the Manager shall repay any outstanding borrowings
effected by or for the account of RREEF CCT (together with any
interest thereon but remaining unpaid) and shall ensure the proper
discharge of all other obligations and liabilities of RREEF CCT or
provision thereof.

Each Unitholder whose name appeared on the register of
Unitholders on 23 April 2010 will be entitled to participate on a pro-
rata basis in the Final Distribution.

The Manager will make further announcements providing status of
the Proposed Liquidation and other information, including but not
limited to the Final Distribution and the dispatch date of the

relevant cheques.
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The Outlook
RE

On completion of the Proposed Liquidation, the following shall be
prepared in accordance with Rule 11.10 of the REIT Code and the
Trust Deed:

(i) the Manager's review and comments on the performance of
RREEF CCT, and an explanation as to how the Property has
been disposed of, the transaction prices and major terms of

the Disposal;

(i) the Trustee's report that the Manager has managed and
liquidated RREEF CCT in accordance with the REIT Code and

the provisions of the Trust Deed,;
(iii) financial statements of RREEF CCT, and
(iv) an auditor’s report.

In compliance with Rule 11.11 of the REIT Code, copies of the
financial statements shall be distributed to the Unitholders within
three months of the completion of the Proposed Liquidation of
RREEF CCT and a copy shall be filed with the SFC.

Proposed Delisting (ongoing):

The trading of RREEF CCT units on the SEHK has been suspended
since 19 April 2010 and RREEF CCT's register of Unitholders has
been closed since 23 April 2010. The units shall remain suspended
and RREEF CCT's register of Unitholders shall remain closed until
the effective date of the Proposed Delisting. The effective date and
arrangement for the Proposed Delisting are subject to the SEHK's

approval and the progress of the Claims.
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Proposed Deauthorisation (ongoing):

The Manager will apply for deauthorisation of RREEF CCT as a
REIT authorised by the SFC under section 104 of the SFO upon
completion of the Proposed Liquidation. The effective date and
arrangement for the Proposed Deauthorisation of RREEF CCT is
subject to the SFC's approval.

Further announcements shall be made in relation to the details and
timing of the above events in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on the SEHK and the
REIT Code.

Stephen Paul Harris
Executive Director
13 March 2013
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Board of Directors
EEg

Mr. Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior
Age 51

Mr. Roeloffs, aged 51, has more than 24 years of experience in real

Chairman and Non-executive Director

estate industry. Before retiring from Deutsche Bank in December
2012, Mr. Roeloffs was the Global Chief Investment Officer for

RREEF, Deutsche Bank's real estate division.

Mr. Roeloffs received a BA degree from Columbia University and
an MBA degree from The Wharton School, University of
Pennsylvania, United State of America. Mr. Roeloffs is currently
based in New York, United State of America.

Mr. Stephen Paul HARRIS

Executive Director Age 59

Mr. Harris, aged 59, is Chief Operating Officer of Active Asset
Management for Asia Pacific and Head of Alternative Wealth
Management Operating Platform and Re-engineering Group in Asia
Pacific of Deutsche Bank. He is based in Hong Kong since May

2005.

Mr. Harris joined The Deutsche Bank Group in 1994. Prior to his
current role, Stephen served as the Chief Operating Officer for
Global Emerging Markets in the Equity Division of Deutsche Bank.
Before joining the Deutsche Bank Group, he worked at Boyer
International, James Capel France, Chagal Investments and
Deloitte. Mr. Harris graduated from Glasgow University and
became a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Scotland.

Mr. Harris has been appointed as an executive director of the
Manager and a responsible officer of the Manager with effect from
14 September 2012.

Kurt William ROELOFFS, Juniorft4

EHFIENITESE 515%
Roeloffsfe £ MBI E T H R @24 F 485 o
RIZE-——F+ZAREEERITREA
Roeloffst £ BB EERITEHENE =
IRIKIEE B E -

Roeloffsst £ R E R Ff fm b b KB 24
E&ﬁﬁ%)ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬁfﬁﬁéﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi
B o Roeloffsft £ I BN EEA L -

Stephen Paul HARRIS &4

HMITEE 598K

Harrise £ 3R F595% @ MABEERITHET

ITHEEEESTAREREELILSE

Hﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁf’ﬁ?‘*&iﬁ?&g AR E
BT RFRAREEEE -

Harrise £ — N N ENBREE
o FEUL 2 BT - HarrisE A EEEEE
THRRHMETISRELBNEREET
MBEELXERITUA - WEEBoyer
International, James Capel France, Chagal
Investments RIEE &AM S AT LIE -
Harris 5t 4 S ME RLAT BT R E2 - W0 RK A dRAR

HRastiages -

BE-Z——FNA+HBERE  Harrisf AKE
TEAERANNITEEREEAE -



RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHERAGIEES

Mr. Stephen James Thomas Shaw

Non-executive Director Age 55

Mr. Shaw, aged 55, is Chief Operating Officer for Alternatives and
Real Assets business of the Asset and Wealth Management
Division of Deutsche Bank across Europe, including its Global
Opportunistic Real Estate and Infrastructure business. He is
responsible for the operational management/efficiency of the
platform and the effective execution of strategy. Mr. Shaw has
been with Deutsche Bank since 1997 and undertook a variety of
roles in Sydney and Australia. Prior to joining Deutsche Bank, Mr.
Shaw was the Chief Financial Officer for State Super in Australia.
Prior to that held a variety of senior management roles with
Commonwealth Bank. Mr. Shaw is a Fellow of the Australian

Society of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Shaw has been appointed as a non-executive director of the

manager with effect from 14 September 2012.

Mr. Mark Henry FORD

Independent Non-executive Director Age 58

Mr. Ford is the Chairman of Cbus Property, the Chairman of Kiwi
Income Property Management Limited and the non-executive
Director of the Bond Market Limited. Before retiring from
Deutsche Bank in 2003, Mark Ford was Head of DB Real Estate in

Australia.

Mr. Ford is a commerce graduate from the New South Wales
University of Technology in Sydney. He also holds a Company
Directors Diploma awarded by the Australian Institute of Company

Directors and is a Chartered Accountant in Australia.
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Board Directors
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Mr. Jack Richard RODMAN

Independent Non-executive Director Age 66
Jack Rodman has more than 42 years of experience in real estate
consulting and transaction advisory services. He retired from Ernst

& Young LLC in early 2007.

Mr. Rodman received a Bachelor degree in Business
Administration from San Jose State University and a Master
degree in Business Administration from the University of California
at Los Angeles, United States of America. He is a Certified Public
Accountant in California and Washington State and a member of
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a
visiting fellow at Harvard University Real Estate Academic

Initiative.

Dr. MENG XIAOSU

Independent Non-executive Director Age 63

Since 1992, Meng Xiaosu has served as the Chairman of the China
National Real Estate Development Group. He also acts as the
Chairman of the Board of Happy Life Insurance Co., Ltd. and Vice
Chairman of China Enterprise Con-federation China Enterprise

Directors Association.

Dr. Meng holds a Ph.D. in Economics from Peking University. Dr.
Meng received a special subsidy in recognition of his academic
achievement in business administration as “An Outstanding
Expert” by the State Council of China in 2005.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRS

Compliance

With the objectives of establishing and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance, certain policies and procedures have
been established to ensure that the operation of RREEF CCT is
conducted in a transparent manner. The Manager has adopted a
compliance manual (“Compliance Manual”), as reviewed and
revised from time to time, which sets out key measures and
procedures in relation to the management and operation of RREEF
CCT. Internal checks and balances are also put in place to ensure
that the relevant rules and regulations are duly observed. During
the Reporting Period, RREEF CCT and the Manager have fully
complied with the corporate governance policies laid down in the
Compliance Manual. To the extent applicable, RREEF CCT and the
Manager have also complied with most of the provisions set out in
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on SEHK.

Unitholders to note that the Manager applied for, and the SFC
granted with effect from 26 February 2013, the SFC Waiver, and
that following consultation with the SFC, the Manager
implemented the Revised Arrangements with effect from 27
February 2013. Please refer to the 27 February 2013
Announcement for further details of the SFC Waiver and the

Revised Arrangements.

Authorisation Structure

RREEF CCT is a collective investment scheme authorised by the
SFC under section 104 of the SFO and regulated by the provisions
of the REIT Code. The Manager is licensed by the SFC under
section 116 of the SFO to conduct the regulated activity of asset
management. As at date of issuance of this report, the Manager
has two personnel who are approved as Responsible Officers and
one of them is an executive director, pursuant to the requirements
of section 125 of the SFO and Rule 5.4 of the REIT Code.

2012 Annual Report
T FFR

CE
AERIBRFBEKELEERANER B
HEETHRLRER  UHEREEFHMES
SABATAEE - ERACDKA —EKR
B RETNARTM(TERFM) - "
FHEERMEEASEEREENT ERN
RigfF  UHETABERLHIEARRS
EEMEESETHEAMRAIREN - RS
HE SEFHEESREEACEZEAEST
BRFMATIANEEEARD - RERE
BT EEFRMEEENEREATCETE
RS EmRRAIM SR RERERT
A1) BT &Y 57 AR ST

EeBUBEARBEEERBACRS XA
“E-ZF AT NEREEESHR
VHEBABESER  BRAB_ZT—=F_
AZTHHRERERERY - F2H-F
—ZF R tHHAESEHEESRER
BB RS -

RS
FERHEESRARLERBEESFNBEK
PIE10MER AN EBIREFE  XEME
BREGRESTANRTES - BEAERE
ESRBEESRBMEGRAE 116REENT
RRENEETRRD - RAFRTIER -
EIEABMAIRERSF LI ERDIFE1250%
REMERERFERESTUELATNHRED
BILERABAEBMET  Hh— ARHTT
BE=-



Corporate Governance Report
DEEARE

The Trustee of RREEF CCT, HSBC Institutional Trust Services Asia
Limited, is a wholly owned subsidiary of The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. It is registered as a trust
company under section 77 of the Trustee Ordinance and is
qualified to act as a trustee for authorised collective investment

schemes under the SFO pursuant to the REIT Code.

Functions of the Board of Directors of the Manager

The Board is responsible for the overall governance of RREEF CCT
and the Manager including establishing goals for management and
monitoring the achievements of these goals with a view to ensure
that the fiduciary and statutory obligations of the Manager to the
Unitholders are met, and that such duties have priority over all
other duties including the interests of the Manager’s shareholders.

Having regard to these responsibilities, the Board ensures that:

(a) it discharges its fiduciary and statutory duties and obligations;

(b) appropriate conflict identification and management practices
are in place;

(c) strategies are in place for achievement of the objectives of
RREEF CCT;

(d) business plans and budgets are approved, and monitoring of
performance against those plans and budgets is conducted;

(e) RREEF CCT's financial statements are true and fair and
otherwise conform with the relevant law;

(f) appropriate risk management, internal control and regulatory
compliance policies are in place; and

(g0 management adheres to high standards of ethics and
corporate governance.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of RREEF CCT. The Board also carries ultimate
responsibility for the approval of property acquisitions, divestments
and significant transactions.

ERMERESHZITARELEEETR
ﬂ‘%( M ERARE - AESLEELRTE
RATMEZEWEB AR - SIRESFT AR
FIMEEME BETAR  REFHERE
EEE2Th  BEERIEAREBESRE
EROIREN R RBIEEATEZEA -

ERAEEEHOREE
EERABRAERMELOREBANER
B RERERERYEEABRERX

SEBMERIER  BREREEARES
BUREABGAEEREERA  AKS
B BT R E (R IEEIEA BRI
%) @% -

RUEREMS - EFSHER

(a) HETHEXEMREEBREREL

(b) BERIEEENTRIBNEREE

HEEREERHEESBRNR

w>a%m¥%ﬁ%&%%%%
HERBEORRETER

) BERBEZLRBEEATARA
%ié%%%ﬁ%:

() EHEEENARER AMEZRER
BBE: R

(0) EEEXRRSEREERBBNEEE

N
A °

EXeRRERRE=EFHEESNMHR
RONBE - EFETMENERE - 1 E
BRRBEARGERERKEE -



RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHERAGIEES

To assist the Board in its duties, it has established the Audit, Risk
and Compliance Committee, the Disclosures Committee, the
Management and Investment Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, provided that pursuant to the Revised Arrangements,
with effect from 27 February 2013, each of the committees of the
Board ceased to exist, and the functions of such committees will
be assumed and performed by the remaining Directors (whilst
always including the remaining INED(s)).

The Board and the day-to-day management functions of RREEF

CCT are largely separated with the latter being in the hands of the
Fund Manager and its management team.

Board Composition of the Manager

With the aim of creating a board structure that is both effective and

balanced, the size of the Board has been set to provide for a
minimum of three directors and a maximum of twenty directors
("Directors”). Pursuant to the Manager's corporate governance
policy, independent non-executive directors (“INEDs") must be
individuals who fulfill the independence criteria set out in the

corporate governance policy adopted by the Manager.

The composition of the Board is determined using the following

principles:

(a) the Chairman of the Board should be a non-executive Director;

(b) the Board should comprise Directors with the ability and
competence to make appropriate business recommendations
and decisions, an entrepreneurial talent for contributing to the
creation of investor value, relevant experience in the industry
sector, high ethical standards, sound practical sense and a total
commitment to the fiduciary and statutory obligations to
further the interests of the Unitholders and achieve RREEF

CCT's objectives; and

(c) at least one-third of the Board should be INEDs with a
minimum of three INEDs, provided that, pursuant to the
Revised Arrangements, with effect from 27 February 2013 the
intention is for RREEF CCT to have one INED on the Board
instead of three.
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As at date of issuance of this report, the Board currently comprises
a total of six Directors, consisting of one Executive Director, two
Non-executive Directors (including the Chairman) and three INEDs.
Details are set out in the “Board of Directors” section of this
report.

All Directors shall retire from office at every annual general
meeting of the Manager and shall be eligible for re-election. Unless
Directors decline re- election in writing, the retiring Directors shall
be deemed re-elected unless the vacated office is filled by electing
a person or persons at the annual general meeting of the Manager,

in accordance with its articles of association.

Pursuant to the Compliance Manual and subject to re-election,
INEDs will hold office for three years, following their first
appointment (or, if appointed by the Board between annual
meetings of the Manager, from the date of the annual general
meeting of the Manager immediately following their appointment).
An INED shall not hold office for more than nine years, or be
nominated for more than three consecutive terms, whichever is

longer.

The Manager has received written annual confirmation from each
INED of his independence pursuant to the criteria for
independence of INEDs as set out in the Compliance Manual.

Currently, Mr. Kurt William Roeloffs, Junior, is the Chairman of the
Board.

Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen Paul Harris has
been appointed as an Executive Director of the Manager and a
responsible officer of the Manager.

Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen James Thomas
Shaw has been appointed as a non-Executive Director of the
Manager.

Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Paul Thomas Keogh and
Mr. Niel Thassim tendered their resignation as Executive Directors
and responsible officers of the Manager. On the same date, Ms.
Michele Mi-kyung Bang has been appointed as a responsible
officer of the Manager.
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The composition of the Board is reviewed periodically to ensure
that the Board has the appropriate combination of expertise and
experience. The ongoing review of the Board's composition and
recommendations on the appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors are matters within the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee and hence, the manager has not
established a Nomination Committee.

The Board members are updated and apprised of any laws and
regulations applicable to the Trust and its directors as well as any
amendments thereto. On a continuing basis, directors are
encouraged to keep up to date on all matters relevant to the Trust
and attend briefings and seminars as appropriate.

Board Meetings

During the Reporting Period, the Board have considered, approved,

reviewed and/or formulated the matters as stated but not limited

to the following:

— Financial results of RREEF CCT

— Announcements/reports for publication, including interim and
annual reports of RREEF CCT

— Change of Executive Directors/non-Executive Director and

responsible officers of the Manager

— 2012 Interim Distribution
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(i)

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Directors are given written notices of Board meetings at least
14 days in advance of the meetings. Suitable arrangements
exist to allow Directors to include items in the agenda for
regular Board meetings. Agendas and accompanying board
papers are circulated to allow the Directors to adequately
prepare for the Board meetings. Board consents are given by
votes at the Board meetings or written resolutions signed by a
majority of Directors from time to time. Minutes of Board
meetings and written resolutions, together with any
supporting papers, are kept in safe custody by the Company
Secretary, and are available to all Directors.

Directors’ Attendance Records

During the Reporting Period, five Board meetings were held
and mostly chaired by the Chairman who worked in
conjunction with other Board members, including the Fund
Manager, to formulate strategy and to supervise the business
of the Manager, including review and approval of the financial
results of RREEF CCT, consideration and approval of the
annual budget of RREEF CCT.

(if)
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Up to the end of the Reporting Period, six Board meetings were

held. The attendance records of each member of the Board at the

said Board meetings are set out below:
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Notes:
1 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen James Thomas Shaw has been
appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Manager.

2 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen Paul Harris has been appointed as
an Executive Director of the Manager and a responsible officer of the Manager.

3 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH and Mr. Niel
THASSIM tendered their resignation as Executive Directors and responsible officers
of the Manager.

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee was appointed by the
Board. As at the end of the Reporting Period, at least three
members of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee are
required to be INEDs, at least one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the
members of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee are Mr.
Jack Richard Rodman, Mr. Mark Henry Ford and Dr. Meng Xiaosu
as INEDs and Mr. Kurt William Roeloffs as Non-executive Director.
Mr. Mark Henry Ford is the Chairman of the Audit, Risk and

Compliance Committee.

The role of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee is to assist
the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by monitoring the
Manager's compliance with the SFC licensing requirements, the
Trust Deed, the REIT Code and other regulatory requirements and
by reviewing its compliance, operational risk management and
internal audit programs. The objective of the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee is also to assist the Board in fulfilling its
responsibilities by reviewing the integrity and quality of RREEF
CCT's financial statements and disclosures, and reviewing RREEF

CCT's auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee's responsibilities also

include, among other things:

(a) reviewing the treatment of significant conflicts of interests
arising in the business of RREEF CCT, including related party
transactions;

(b) reviewing the evaluation of the adequacy of RREEF CCT's

operational risk management processes;
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(c) reviewing the accounting policies and practices adopted by the

Manager and compliance with accounting standards, the REIT
Code and relevant legislation;

(d) reviewing the procedures for the selection and appointment of
the external auditor and for the rotation of external audit
engagement partners; and

(e) approving engagements for all audit services and for non-audit
services of an amount greater than or equal to HK$1,000,000.

Up to the end of the Reporting Period, three Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee meetings were held. The attendance

records of each member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance

Committee at the said committee meetings are set out below:

TH
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Pursuant to the Revised Arrangements, with effect from 27
February 2013 the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee ceased
to exist, and its functions will be assumed and performed by the
remaining Directors (whilst always including the remaining
INED(s)).

Disclosures Committee

The Disclosures Committee was appointed by the Board, which
consists of the Executive Director, Mr. Stephen Paul Harris
(Chairman), one Non-Executive Director, Mr. Stephen James
Thomas Shaw and two INEDs, Mr. Mark Henry Ford and Mr. Jack
Richard Rodman, as at the end of the Reporting Period.

Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen Paul Harris had
been appointed as a member and Chairman of the Disclosure
Committee. Mr. Stephen James Thomas Shaw and Mr. Mark
Henry Ford, each has been appointed as a member of the
Disclosure Committee.

Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Paul Thomas Keogh and
Mr. Niel Thassim had ceased to be members of the Disclosure
Committee.

The role of the Disclosures Committee is to review matters
relating to the disclosure of information to the Unitholders and
public announcements or circulars. The Disclosures Committee
also works with the management team to ensure the disclosure of

information is accurate, complete and made in a timely manner.
The Disclosures Committee’s responsibilities include:

(a) reviewing and recommending to the Board corporate
disclosure issues and announcements, financial reporting,
connected party transactions, and potential areas of conflicts
of interest;

(b) overseeing compliance with applicable legal requirements and
the continuity, accuracy, clarity, completeness and currency of
information disseminated by or on behalf of RREEF CCT to the
public and applicable regulatory agencies;
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(c) reviewing and approving all material non-public information and
all public regulatory filings on behalf of RREEF CCT prior to
such information being disseminated to the public or filed with

applicable regulatory agencies, as applicable; and

(d) reviewing periodic and current reports, proxy statements,
information statements, registration statements and any other

information filed with regulatory bodies.

Up to the end of the Reporting Period, three Disclosure Committee
meetings were held. The attendance records of each member of

the Disclosure Committee at the said committee meetings are set

out below:
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Notes:
1 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen Paul Harris has been appointed as
member and the Chairman of the Disclosure Committee of the Manager.

2 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH and Mr. Niel
THASSIM tendered their resignation as the member of the Disclosure Committee
of the Manager.

3 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen James Thomas Shaw has been
appointed as the member of the Disclosure Committee of the Manager.

4 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Mark Henry Ford has been appointed as
member of the Disclosure Committee of the Manager.

Pursuant to the Revised Arrangements, with effect from 27
February 2013 the Disclosure Committee ceased to exist, and its
functions will be assumed and performed by the remaining

Directors (whilst always including the remaining INED(s)).

Management and Investment Committee

The Management and Investment Committee was appointed by
the Board. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Management
and Investment Committee consists of two Executive Directors,
Mr. Stephen Paul Harris (Chairman) and Mr. Stephen James
Thomas Shaw.

Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen Paul Harris has
been appointed as a member and Chairman of the Management
and Investment Committee. Mr. Stephen James Thomas Shaw has
been appointed as a member of the Management and Investment

Committee.

Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Paul Thomas Keogh and
Mr. Niel Thassim each had ceased to be a member of the

Management and Investment Committee.

The role of the Management and Investment Committee is to
assist the management team in the direction, implementation and

monitoring of the Manager’s plans and strategies.

The Management and Investment Committee’s responsibilities

also include:

(a) reviewing and recommending investment transactions to the
Board;

(b) monitoring service levels with all external service providers;

and
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(c) monitoring all treasury related transactions.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the attendance records of
each member of the Management and Investment Committee at

the said two Board meetings are set out below:
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Notes:

1 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen Paul Harris has been appointed as
the member and the Chairman of the Management and Investment Committee of
the Manager.

2 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH and Mr. Niel
THASSIM tendered their resignation as member of Management and Investment

Committee of the Manager.

3 Effective from 14 September 2012, Mr. Stephen James Thomas Shaw has been

appointed as member of Management and Investment Committee of the Manager.

Pursuant to the Revised Arrangements, with effect from 27
February 2013 the Management and Investment Committee
ceased to exist, and its functions will be assumed and performed
by the remaining Directors (whilst always including the remaining
INED(s)).

Bt 5

1 BT —Z_FNA+MHAR + Stephen Paul Harris
EAEEZTAEERANETEREEZEERER
EE o

2 BZT—Z—FHA-+WHAE ' Paul Thomas Keogh
S 4 B Niel ThassimE A BHEE IR AR B R RK
BEBEKE -

3 BZZE—Z-HFNATWHE  Stephen James
Thomas Shaw’ t £ B LT AEEANEEREE
ZEgKE -

BEERELZHFE —T—=F_R-++H

B ERREEZEESDNMERE - HEse

HHEBTHES (BTEEATHE IR

TEE)BERET -

31



32 Corporate Governance Report
ERERRE

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was appointed by the Board and
currently consists of one non-executive Director, Mr. Kurt William
Roeloffs, Junior as well as one INED, Mr. Mark Henry Ford

(Chairman).

The role of the Remuneration Committee is to oversee all aspects
of Directors’ and executives’ remuneration and performance

evaluation.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities also include

reviewing and recommending to the Board, among other things:

(a) remuneration strategy, including the design of short and long-

term employee incentive schemes;

(b) Directors’, executives’ and employees’ remuneration, having

regard to performance;

(c) aggregate annual short and long-term incentive pools; and

(d) Directors’ and executives’ succession plans.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held its
annual meeting with 100 per cent attendance by its members. The
Committee had evaluated the performance of the Board and its
members and reviewed the terms and conditions of employment

of senior executives and Board members.

Pursuant to the Revised Arrangements, with effect from 27
February 2013 the Remuneration Committee ceased to exist, and
its functions will be assumed and performed by the remaining

Directors (whilst always including the remaining INED(s)).

Company Secretary

Ms. Ho Wing Tsz Wendy of Tricor Services Limited, external
service provider, has been engaged by the Manager as its
Company Secretary. Its primary contact person at the Manager is
Ms. Gloria Chan, Vice President, Fund Finance, RREEF Asia Pacific

and Financial Controller of the Manager.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the Reporting Period, fees paid and payable to the auditors of
RREEF CCT for audit amounted to HK$500,000.

Internal Controls

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee is responsible to the Board for ensuring
the existence and implementation of an effective system of

internal controls.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems through the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

during the Reporting Period.

Management of Business Risk

The Board meets regularly to review the financial performance of
the Manager and RREEF CCT against a previously approved
budget. The Board also reviews any risks to the assets of RREEF
CCT, examines liability management and acts upon any comments
from the auditors of RREEF CCT.

The Manager has designed a system of risk oversight,
management and internal control to identify, assess, monitor and
manage risk, and to enable the Manager to keep the Unitholders
informed of material changes in RREEF CCT's risk profile. As at the
end of the Reporting Period, this system includes the

establishment of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

The Manager has also appointed experienced and well qualified
management to handle the day to day operations of the Manager
and RREEF CCT. In assessing business risk, the Board considers
the economic environment and risks within the property industry. It
reviews management reports and feasibility studies on individual

projects prior to approving major transactions.
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Conflicts of Interest Fz=ER

~

The Manager has instituted the following procedures to deal with
conflicts of interest issues:

(@) The INEDs act independently for the interests of the (a)
Unitholders. Furthermore, as at the end of the Reporting
Period, the management structure of the Manager includes
the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and the
Disclosures Committee which identify and address any

potential conflicts of interest.

(b) All connected party transactions are managed in accordance (b)
with the procedures set out in the Compliance Manual.

(c) Any Director with a material interest in a transaction or (c)
arrangement is required to declare his interest to the Board at
the earliest meeting of the Board at which the question of
entering into the contract, business or arrangement is to be
discussed.

(d) A Director shall not vote (or be counted in the quorum at a (d)
meeting) in relation to any resolution concerning any contract
or arrangement in which he, to his knowledge, is materially
interested. This prohibition shall not apply and a Director may
vote and be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution

concerning any one or more of the following matters:

(i) granting him any guarantee, indemnity or security in
respect of any debt or obligation incurred by him at the
request of or for the benefit of the Manager (in its own
capacity and not in its capacity as manager of RREEF CCT)
or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) granting a third party any guarantee, indemnity or security
in respect of any debt or obligation of the Manager (in its
own capacity and not in its capacity as manager of RREEF
CCT) or any of its subsidiaries for which the Director has
assumed responsibility in whole or in part and whether
alone or jointly under a guarantee or indemnity or by the

giving of security;

[
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(iif)

(iv)

any contract concerning the Manager (in its own capacity
and not in its capacity as Manager of RREEF CCT) or any
of its subsidiaries and any other company (not being a
company in which the Director beneficially owns five per
cent or more) in which the Director is interested directly or

indirectly as an officer, employee or shareholder;

any contract concerning the adoption, modification or
operation of a pension fund or retirement, death or
disability benefits scheme which relates both to Directors
and employees of the Manager or of any of its subsidiaries
and does not provide in respect of any Director as such
any privilege or advantage not accorded to the employees

to which the fund or scheme relates;

any contract for the benefit of employees of the Manager
or of any of its subsidiaries under which the Director
benefits in a similar manner to the employees and which
does not accord to any Director as such any privilege or
advantage not accorded to the employees to whom the

contract relates; and

any contract for the purchase or maintenance for any

Director or Directors of insurance against any liability.

No Director was materially interested in any contract of

significance during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

The Board, including INEDs, ensures that RREEF CCT is treated in

a consistent and equitable manner under the rotation system. The

Manager will inform the Unitholders if future changes to the said

Client Investment Allocation Policy will materially and adversely

affect the interests of the Unitholders.
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General Meetings

Pursuant to the Revised Arrangements, with effect from 27
February 2013, RREEF CCT will no longer be required to hold an
annual general meeting of Unitholders at least once in every
calendar year, provided that the Manager has undertaken that
notwithstanding the Revised Arrangements, the Manager will

convene a general meeting of Unitholders if:

(a) in accordance with the Trust Deed, not less than two
Unitholders registered as together holding not less than 10 per
cent. of the Units for the time being in issue and outstanding
submit a request in writing to the Manager for a general

meeting of Unitholders to be held; or

(b) the Manager or the Trustee, acting in accordance with their
fiduciary duties to Unitholders, and with the REIT Code, the
Trust Deed and all other applicable laws and regulatory
requirements, determines that a matter requires a vote of
Unitholders which will require a general meeting of
Unitholders to be held.

The Manager has designated an individual as the contact person
for any Unitholder who requires information about RREEF CCT at
any time, and the details of the Manager's contact person
(including name, telephone number and e-mail address) is
prominently displayed on the website of RREEF CCT, as well as in
the 27 February 2013 Announcement.

In the consideration of an ordinary resolution, a minimum of 14
days’ notice of meeting shall be given to the Unitholders (exclusive
of the day on which the notice is served or deemed to be served
and of the day for which the notice is given) while a special
resolution requires a minimum of 21 days’ notice of meeting to be
served to Unitholders (exclusive of the day on which the notice is
served or deemed to be served and of the day for which the notice
is given). Such notice shall specify the date, time and place of the

meeting and the terms of any resolutions to be proposed.
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Two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered
as holding together not less than 10 per cent of the units for the
time being in issue and outstanding will form a quorum for the
transaction of all business, except for the purpose of passing a
special resolution of the Unitholders. The quorum for passing a
special resolution of the Unitholders will be two or more
Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered as holding
together not less than 25 per cent of the units for the time being in

issue and outstanding.

During the Reporting Period, no annual general meeting of
Unitholders was held as the Manager was already in consultation
with the SFC in relation to the proposed details of the Revised
Arrangements relating to, amongst other things, the need to
comply with the requirement for RREEF CCT to hold an annual
general meeting at least once in every calendar year. Details of the
Revised Arrangements were disclosed in the 27 February 2013

Announcement.

The Manager will update Unitholders by further announcement as
soon as reasonably practicable in relation to any material
development and the timetable for the Final Distribution, the
Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting and the Proposed
Deauthorisation in accordance with applicable regulatory

requirements.

Matters to be Decided by Unitholders by
Special Resolution

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, decisions with respect to certain
matters require specific prior approval of Unitholders by way of
special resolution. Such matters include among other things,
removal of the Trustee and the auditors of RREEF CCT.
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Reporting and Transparency

RREEF CCT prepares its financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, with a financial year-end
of 31 December and a financial half-year of 30 June for each
calendar year.

As of the end of the Reporting Period:

(a) in accordance with the REIT Code, the annual reports and
financial statements for RREEF CCT are published and sent to
Unitholders no later than four months following each financial
year-end and the interim reports and financial statements no
later than three months following each financial half-year end;
and

(b) In accordance with the Listing Rules, the annual results
announcement for the Reporting Period of RREEF CCT are
required to be published not later than three months after the
financial year ended 31 December 2012.

Pursuant to the SFC Waiver, with effect from 26 February 2013,
the SFC waived strict compliance by RREEF CCT with the
requirement to publish preliminary interim/annual results
announcement under the general disclosure obligation under
paragraph 10.3 of the REIT Code, such that (and only to the extent
that) RREEF CCT is no longer required to publish a preliminary
results announcement ahead of the publication of any of its annual
or interim reports, subject to the conditions of the SFC Waiver as
set out in the 27 February 2013 Announcement including but not
limited to:

(i)  the Manager shall publish and distribute to the Unitholders an
annual report of RREEF within three months after the end of

each financial year of RREEF;

(i) for each annual report of RREEF CCT, all the relevant content
requirements for the corresponding preliminary annual results
announcement as set out in the Listing Rules (currently
contained in Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules) as if those
requirements were applicable to RREEF CCT shall be covered

by and included in the annual report itself; and

R ERE
BEBMELSREE BN FRE LG
REEFHET-_A=+-ALUBRFER
BEANASTHLLXERBFEENHTBR
x o

BERSHAR

(a) REFHEREETESTA &5
WEESNFREMBHRRANS MK
FEAERRNBERANMRETE TR
TEMBAEA M HRE M BEHRRE
QA TENEMRFFEEERR =
AARBRFETESBEUFAA + R

(b) BIELTRA  FEEEHMEESNRSE
HEFEEEENRNENERFELEH
T —F+ A=+ —BE=ZEAR
Al

BREEEeHREE _T—=—F_F=-+H
g BEFCHEEEFMERESRRET
BHEREETESTAE103BETAM
RHIEEE FEEEN MBEBREMS Bt
(MEEME) EERELSEBBETIE
HEEPHREAMLITAMES @ ATIER
ZRR-_E—=F_A-t+t+tHAEFID
BEFHENGKRG  BEETRR :

(I EEESEVBEEREE=EAN
ERABEAESEUBEATEES
B RS

(i) EESHEESNENFEREERE
K BiERER LR RIPTRE CREN £
mARAKME16) MABRITAMEERE
MAR  BUZEREEANEE BT
EES R



RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHERAGIEES

(i) for each interim report of RREEF CCT, all the relevant content
requirements for the corresponding preliminary interim results
announcement as set out in the Listing Rules (currently
contained in Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules) as if those
requirements were applicable to RREEF CCT shall be covered

by and included in the interim report itself.

As required by the REIT Code, the Manager will ensure that public
announcements of material information and developments with
respect to RREEF CCT will be made on a timely basis in order to
keep the Unitholders apprised of the position of RREEF CCT.

Units in Issue

The Manager confirms that there was no repurchase, sale or
redemption of RREEF CCT units and that no new units were
issued during the Reporting Period. The total number of units in
issue was 464,161,000 as at 31 December 2012.

Public Float

Based on publicly available information and to the best knowledge
of the Manager, more than 25 per cent of the issued units of
RREEF CCT were held in public hands as at 31 December 2012.

Employees

RREEF CCT is externally managed by the Manager and does not
employ any staff.

Review of Annual Report

The annual report of RREEF CCT for the Reporting Period has been
reviewed by the Board of the Manager in accordance with their
respective terms of reference. The financial information included in

this report has also been agreed by the auditors of RREEF CCT.
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Interests of and Dealings in the Units by Directors, the
Manager or the Significant Holders

To monitor and supervise any dealings of the units, the Manager
has adopted a Dealings Code (the “Dealings Code") containing
rules on dealings by the Directors and the Manager on terms no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
pursuant to the Listing Rules Appendix 10. Pursuant to this code,
any Director or the Manager wishing to deal in the units must first
have regard to provisions analogous to those set out in Part XIl|
and XIV of the SFO with respect to insider dealing and market
misconduct. In addition, a Director must not make any
unauthorised disclosure of confidential information or make any
use of such information for the advantage of himself or others.

The Manager has adopted procedures for monitoring the
disclosure of interests by the Directors, the Fund Manager and the
Manager. The provisions of Part XV of the SFO shall be deemed to
apply to the Manager, the Directors, the Fund Manager, and each

Unitholder and all persons claiming through or under them.

Under the Trust Deed and by virtue of the deemed application of
Part XV of the SFO, Unitholders with a holding of five per cent or
more of the units in issue will have a notifiable interest and are
required to notify the SEHK and the Manager of their holdings in
RREEF CCT.

Confirmation of Compliance with the Dealings Code

RREEF CCT has made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Manager and its employees and each has confirmed that he/she
has complied with the required standard as set out in the Dealings
Code throughout the Reporting Period.
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Connected Party Transactions

BEALRS

Connected Party Transactions with the Trustee’s
Connected Persons and Manager’s Connected Persons

The following information on the Connected Party Transactions (as defined
under the REIT Code), if any, between RREEF CCT and the Trustee (and its
Directors, senior executives, officers, controlling entities, holding
companies, subsidiaries and associated companies) and the HSBC Group'
(collectively, the “Trustee's Connected Persons”) and; the Connected Party
Transactions between RREEF CCT and the Manager Group? (the
“Manager’'s Connected Persons”) during the Reporting Period.

Ordinary Banking and Financial Services?®

HETABEATREBABEAL
MEEALTRS

TREFINBENE  FEENELS BT
A REES  BRTKAE - BRBE - 24
HEE - BRAT - MELARBELR) REY
EE (HBAIDREAMBAL) ZMETNE
BEREESTRMENMEALR S (10
B REBRHEESRERARE ([EEA
BEALT]) ZRETHBEALTRSHOER

—RBTREBMEH

Trustee's Connected

The Hongkong and Shanghai

Banking Corporation Limited Persons
BELBEZRITERDF XEABEAL

Bank deposits 53,540
WITFER
Interest income 9

received/receivable

B TR B

The Manager confirms that during the Reporting Period, there was no
ordinary banking and financial services transactions entered into between
RREEF CCT and the Manager Group.

Notes:

T HSBC Group refers to The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
and its subsidiaries and unless otherwise expressly stated herein, excludes the
Trustee and its proprietary subsidiaries (being the subsidiaries of the Trustee but
excluding those subsidiaries formed in its capacity as the Trustee of RREEF CCT).

2 Manager Group refers to the Manager and its Directors, senior executives, officers,

controlling entities, holding companies, subsidiaries and associated companies
including Deutsche Bank AG and its subsidiaries.

8 Ordinary banking and financial services include bank deposits and interest earned
therefrom.
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Corporate Finance Transactions

Both the Manager and the Trustee confirm that during the Reporting
Period, there was no corporate finance transaction between RREEF CCT
and the Manager Group or the HSBC Group.

Confirmation by the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Manager

The INEDs of the Manager confirm that they have reviewed all relevant
connected party transactions during the Reporting Period and they are
satisfied that those transactions have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of RREEF CCT,

(i) on normal commercial terms (to the extent that there are comparable
transactions) or, where there are not sufficient comparable
transactions to judge whether they are on normal commercial terms,
on terms no less favourable to RREEF CCT than terms available to or
from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements and the Manager'’s
internal procedures governing them, if any, on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Unitholders of RREEF CCT as a
whole.

Confirmation by the Auditors of RREEF CCT

Pursuant to the waivers from strict compliance with the requirements
under Chapter 8 of the REIT Code, the Manager has engaged the auditors
of RREEF CCT to report on RREEF CCT's connected party transactions on
the ordinary banking and financial services and corporate finance

transactions, where applicable, for the Reporting Period in accordance with

Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions with the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditors have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by RREEF CCT on page 70 of the annual report in accordance
with the waivers granted by the SFC, the REIT Code and the Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
RREEF CCT to the SFC.
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Interests of Connected Persons in Units

FEATRESEUNESR

The REIT Code requires disclosure in the annual report holdings of each
Connected Person (as defined under the REIT Code) to the scheme. The
provisions of Part XV of the SFO are also deemed by the Trust Deed
constituting RREEF CCT to apply to the Manager, the Directors and the
Fund Manager of the Manager and to persons interested in or having a
short position in the units of RREEF CCT.

Holdings of the Manager and Directors/Fund
Manager of the Manager

As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions in units of the
Manager, the Directors and the Fund Manager as recorded in the Register
of Interests required to be kept by the Manager under Schedule 3 of the
Trust Deed were as follows:

FHEREERES TR TEMESNEH
BEAL (REMWEREERESTANER)
ARTFHRETRER S ED - RIBEAKEE
FHEESHNERRY  EFRPEHRAIEXV
MEGEXTRESERANEEA  EEANE
FRESKE  UEREERHEESESE
UHEBERDEIRBOAL -

EBARES ESRBEFERS

RZZE—=ZF+=ZA=1+—H REBARKE
ERZHNMER=FMFENERE LML -
ERA EERESCERESEMAFES
FoREWT

Mr. Jack Richard RODMAN?
Long Position

Jack Richard RODMAN/E 42
He

75,000 0.02

Mr. Kurt William
ROELOFFS Junior?
Long Position

Kurt William ROELOFFS
Juniorft &2
He

900,000 0.19

75,000

0.02 —

900,000 0.19 —

Notes:

! Based on 464,161,000 units in issue as at 31 December 2012 and 30 June 2012
respectively.

2 Each of the Directors holds a beneficial interest in the units of RREEF CCT as
described in the table.

B 3

VREBR T —F+ZA=+—BR-T =X
A=+B5RIB3THE S B (1464,161,000fE51 & -

2 AR REFREERHMEESNESEM

A E S -



44

Interests of Connected Persons in Units

BEATRESEUWES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, the Manager, Directors
and the Fund Manager have no other interests in the units of RREEF CCT.
Please refer to the tables and notes below in relation to the interests in the
units of RREEF CCT by other Connected Persons.

Holdings of Other Unitholders

According to information available to the Manager, as at 31 December
2012, the interests and short positions in units of every person holding five
per cent or more interest in the units of RREEF CCT (other than the
Manager, the Directors and the Fund Manager as stated above) were as

follows:

BEXHEEN RZE——F+=—F=+—
H BREA ZEZENESKERERESFH
EECHESENTPHEEMER - BHAEM
BEALTHREESEHEESHNESEMFRZA
BiEDR  B2HUTERREWE -

HttESBUFEAMSER
BRIBBEEARMGZER  RZT—=—F+=A8
=t+t—H REERHEESHESENFHE
EAEDZATA EERENEE AL (B XA
WEREA EFRESLERIN RESBAAT
BESRABNT

Daniel Saul OCH?
Long Position
HE

Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLC?
Long Position
"R

0Z Management L.P.2
Long Position
[S=)

0Z Asia Master Fund, Ltd.®
Long Position
[S=)

The Real Return
Group Limited #
Long Position
HE

119,057,600

119,057,600

119,057,600

69,426,800

51,631,000

25.65

25.65

25.65

14.96

11.12

119,057,600

119,057,600

25.65 —

25.65 —

119,057,600 25.65 —
69,426,800 14.96 —
50,759,000 10.94 0.18

Please refer to page 46 for the notes.
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Holdings of Other Unitholders (continued) HESBEUFEAMSERZ®

TIN Lik 8

Long Position 46,269,000 9.97 46,269,000 9.97 —
iy

e

0OZ Master Fund, Ltd ®
Long Position 43,698,700 9.41 43,698,700 9.41 —
HE

Government of Singapore

Investment Corporation

Pte Ltd. 7

Long Position 32,432,157 6.99 32,432,157 6.99 —
IR ERRQE

HE
UBS AG®

Long Position 23,934,000 5.16 23,934,000 5.16 —

HE
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|

Please refer to page 46 for the notes. B2HFEICENEBNE -
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Holdings of Other Unitholders (continued)

Notes:

1

Based on 464,161,000 units in issue as at 31 December 2012 and 30 June 2012
respectively.

As at 31 December 2012, OZ Management L.P. held a long position of
119,057,500 units through its wholly owned subsidiaries OZ Asia Master Fund,
Ltd., OZ Master Fund, Ltd., Gordel Holdings Ltd., Goldman Sachs & Co. Profit
Sharing Master Trust, OZ Global Special Investments Master Fund, L.P. and OZ
Select Master Fund, Ltd.. OZ Management L.P. was wholly owned by Och-Ziff
Holding Corporation which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLC. Mr. Daniel Saul OCH owned 79.10 per cent of Och-Ziff
Capital Management Group LLC.

The long position of 119,057,500 units held by OZ Management L.P. in its
capacity as investment manager also represented the deemed interests of Mr.
Daniel Saul OCH, Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC and Och-Ziff Holding
Corporation by virtue of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2012, OZ Asia Master Fund, Ltd. was reported to hold a
beneficial interest in 69,426,800 units.

The Real Return Group Limited controls the entire issued share capital of Veritas
Asset Management (UK) Ltd and Veritas Asset Management AG, each holding
the position of 50,759,000 units and 672,000 units respectively in their capacity
as the corporation controlled by The Real Return Group Limited.

Mr. TIN Lik was reported to hold a beneficial interest in 46,269,000 units.

0OZ Master Fund, Ltd. was reported to hold a beneficial interest in 43,698,700
units.

Government of Singapore Investment Corporation Pte Ltd in its capacity as
investment manager was reported to hold a beneficial interest in 32,432,157
units.

UBS AG was reported having a security interest in 23,934,000 units.

HhESBENEEAEER®
Bt 3

T OBRBR-E-—F+-A=+—-BR=-T
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Trust » OZ Global Special Investments Master
Fund, L.P.%0Z Select Master Fund, Ltd. &
119,057,5001E & € &7 2 4 & ° OZ Manage-
ment L.P.f Och-Ziff Holding Corporation% & #
A » MOch-Ziff Holding Corporation/&Och-Ziff
Capital Management Group LLCH) 2 & KiE A a] °
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHERAGIEES

Trustee’s Report
SFEARSE

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of RREEF China
Commercial Trust has, in all material respects, managed RREEF China
Commercial Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed
dated 28 May 2007, for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited
(in its capacity as Trustee of RREEF China Commercial Trust)

Hong Kong, 13 March 2013

2012 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
BUZEMEBRARS

3N

Independent auditor’s report to the Unitholders of
RREEF China Commercial Trust

(a Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under section 104
of the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong))

We have audited the financial statements of RREEF China Commercial
Trust ("RREEF CCT") set out on pages 50 to 71, which comprise the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2012, the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to Unitholders,
distribution statement and cash flow statement for the year then ended and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Manager’s responsibility for the financial statements

RREEF China REIT Management Ltd, as the Manager of RREEF CCT, is
responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
relevant provisions of the trust deed dated 28 May 2007 (the “Trust Deed"”)
and the relevant disclosure requirements set out in Appendix C of the Code
on Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (the “REIT Code”), and for such internal control
as the Manager of RREEF CCT determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Appendix C of the REIT Code and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHERAGIEES

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the Manager of RREEF CCT, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
disposition of the assets and liabilities of RREEF CCT as at 31 December
2012 and of its result of operation and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure requirements set out in Appendix C
of the REIT Code.

Emphasis of matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact that RREEF
CCT is in the process of termination and liquidation. Details about the basis
of preparation of the financial statements are set out in note 2 (b) to the
financial statements.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

13 March 2013
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
ZHKEE

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
HE_Z——_F+-_RA=+—BILFERFZHER  UWETIIT)

2012 2011
—E-——fF —E——fF
Note $000 $:000
B Fr T
Interest income from bank deposits RITFBIA 235 645
Administrative expenses TR (4,437) (34,541)
Loss before taxation and KRB EREES
transactions with Unitholders BUBFEARSAH
KEE 3 (4,202) (33,896)
Income tax Fris®t 4 - —
Loss and total comprehensive income HESBENFEA
for the year before R B AR REE
transactions with Unitholders RE2HEKE (4,202) (33,896)
Loss per unit BESBENER
- basic and diluted —BEARRE#E 6 ($0.009) ($0.073)

The notes on pages 55 to 71 form part of these financial statements. ELERFETENMTBUFNBHRZAH -



RREEF China Commercial Trust

2012 Annual Report

EETERERHMEREERES —E-EER
EERER
As at 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
RZE—ZF+=ZA=+—B BRIFEBHIER  LUETIIR)
Note 2012 2011
s —EB-—fF —T——%
$'000 $000
Fr T
Current assets RENEE
Interest receivables FEMRIB, 1 1
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 7 53,540 206,445
53,541 206,456
Total assets HEE 53,541 206,456
Current liabilities REIAE
Other payables and accruals EAb BT RIE R FERT & A 8 33,123 40,236
Amount due to the Vendor JERT & 77 FRIE 9 10,900 10,900
44,023 51,136
Net current assets RBEEFE 9,518 155,320
Total assets less current liabilities REERREBARE 9,518 155,320
Total liabilities, excluding net wedreEREeEN
assets attributable to Unitholders BEEAEBGEEERE) 44,023 51,136
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE ESBNEEAREMN
TO UNITHOLDERS EEFE 9,518 155,320
Number of units in issue ERTESENEB 10 464,161,000 464,161,000
Net asset value attributable to HeBuFEAEMLN
Unitholders per unit BEESENEERE $0.021 $0.335
Approved and authorised for issue by RREEF China REIT Management R_E—=F=-A+=HE=TEHEALELE

Limited, as the Manager of RREEF China Commercial Trust on 13 March

2013.

Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior
Chairman

Ee

RREEF China REIT Management Limited

EETEERESERARAR

BARAR (FREETEAXFHEREFET

HEBEA) HE RIRHETIE -

REZE

Stephan Paul HARRIS
Exeutive Director

HITEF
RREEF China REIT Management Limited
EEHEERESERARAT

The notes on pages 55 to 71 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders
ESENVRAARGLEEREED X

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BE_Z——F+-_A=+—HLLFE KRISHEER  UWETIIR)

2012 2011
—E-——F —E——fF

$000 $000

Fr FT

Balance as at 1 January R—A—B#&& 155,320 189,216
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERFAZEWRALLRE (4,202) (33,896)

income for the year
Distributions paid to Unitholders ERESEMFEEA

SRk (141,600) —

Balance as at 31 December R+=-—A=+—BHEe 9,518 155,320

The notes on pages 55 to 71 form part of these financial statements.

ESREFETIANMIBUHEM BRI



RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHERAGIEES

Distribution Statement

2 k&

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BEZ- -+ -_A=+—HILFE GFREER  AETIIR)

2012 Annual Report 53
T FFR

2012 2011
—E-C—fF —T——%F
$7000 $000
Fr Fit

Loss after adjustments for the year, BES BAIFE AR SRR
before transactions with Unitholders RGN EE (4,202) (33,896)
Annual distributable income FEADIRBA — —
Other distribution (note (ii)) E bR (B EE ) 141,600 —
Total distributions DIRAEEE 141,600 —

Distribution per Unit SEESENSIR

(in Hong Kong dollar) (ABTIIR) $0.305 —

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the Trust Deed, RREEF CCT is required to ensure that the total
amounts distributed or distributable to Unitholders shall be not less than 90% of
its annual distributable income for each financial year. The policy of the Manager
is to distribute to Unitholders at least 90% of RREEF CCT's annual distributable

income for each financial year.

The Manager also has the discretion to distribute additional amounts if and to the
extent the Trust has funds available, in the opinion of the Manager.

(i) Other distribution in 2012 of $141,600,000 ($0.305 per unit) is comprised of
available cash resources of RREEF CCT as announced on 3 May 2012 and was
paid to Unitholders on 11 May 2012 whose names appear on the register of

Unitholders on 23 April 2010.

The notes on pages 55 to 71 form part of these financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
BERER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BEZ-—HF+-_A=+—HILFE GFEHHA  NETIIR)

Note 2012 2011
Bt =% %
$000 $:000
Fr T
Operating activities REES
Loss before taxation REHIEREE S BN
and transactions with Unitholders BB ARZSRIREE (4,202) (33,896)
Adjustments for: TR
— Interest income from bank deposits —RITEHFEHA (235) (645)
Operating loss before BESSEHAN
changes in working capital ReEEE (4,437) (34,541)
Decrease in interest receivables FEMFI S BRI 10 13
(Decrease)/increase in other HA A RIER
payables and accruals FEFHE AR CR) /180 (7,113) 24,794
Net cash used in operations EEFARSEE (11,540) (9,734)
Investing activities RETE
Interest received from bank deposits AR SR T 7 7R B 235 645
Net cash generated RETEMEB
from investing activities ReFE 235 645
Financing activities AEEE
Distributions paid [EARNELNIS (141,600) —
Net cash used in financing activities METEAESEE (141,600) —
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents | BE&RBELZEYWRD (152,905) (9,089)
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—HK
at 1 January REeRBEEEEY 206,445 215,534
Cash and cash equivalents R+-ZA=+—HWR2
at 31 December RESEZEY 7 53,540 206,445

s

The notes on pages 55 to 71 form part of these financial statements. EEEEEFTTENMEBLENBHREDS
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2012 Annual Report
T FFR

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R R MY

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSHEHER - BETIHIR)

1 General

RREEF China Commercial Trust (“RREEF CCT" or the “Trust”) is in the
process of termination and liquidation, details of which are set out in
the relevant announcements of RREEF CCT and note 2(b) to the
financial statements.

The Manager's registered office is located at Level 52, International
Commerce Center, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

These audited financial statements forming part of the annual report,
were authorised for issuance on 13 March 2013.

2 Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Code on Real Estate Investment
Trusts (the “REIT Code”) issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission (the “SFC") and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the SEHK. A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by RREEF CCT is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued several amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of RREEF CCT.
These amended HKFRSs have no significant impact on the
financial statements of RREEF CCT for the year ended 31
December 2012. RREEF CCT has not applied any new standard,
amendment or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period (note 15).
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56 Notes to the Financial Statements

2 FEEHEBE@®
BSRENRREE

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (b)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 3 February
2010, on 12 April 2010, RREEF CCT sold the Gateway Plaza, the
investment property, to Mapletree India China Fund Ltd through
the disposal of the entire issued ordinary share capital of Beijing
Gateway Plaza (BVI) Limited (the “Disposal”), which holds the
entire issued ordinary share capital of a property holding company,
HK Gateway Plaza Company Limited. As a result, BVI Gateway
and its subsidiaries were deconsolidated from the Trust as at 12
April 2010.

Subsequent to the Disposal, RREEF CCT had no real estate
assets to fulfill the criteria for operating as a REIT and accordingly
RREEF CCT was to be terminated, delisted from trading on the
SEHK and liquidated in accordance with the REIT Code. The
Original Estimated Timetable for the Proposed Liquidation, the
Proposed Delisting and the Proposed Deauthorisation of RREEF
CCT as disclosed in the interim financial report for the period
ended 30 June 2010 and 2010 annual financial statements has
been delayed following (1) a notice published by the Trustee
pursuant to section 29 of the Trustee Ordinance, and (2) the court
application by the Trustee (the “Court Application”).

Under the Court Application, the Trustee sought the court’s
direction including whether it may proceed with a distribution of
the entirety of the net assets of RREEF CCT without retention
(subject to deduction of relevant costs) to meet any possible
claim which might otherwise be made by the Vendor (see note 9).
On 31 May 2011, the Court Application was heard at the High
Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High
Court”). The judgment was issued on 30 June 2011 (the
“Judgment”). In the Judgment, the High Court granted the
Trustee the declaration sought to proceed with a distribution of
the entirety of the net assets of RREEF CCT without any retention
to meet any possible claim by Mr. Tin Lik.
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2 FEETBEE@
(b) BIIESRRMNVARBELE (@)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

On 13 July 2011, Mr. Tin Lik lodged an appeal against the
Judgment at the High Court (the “Appeal”) on certain procedural
grounds, including but not limited to the alleged fact that he did
not receive proper notice of the court hearing for the Court
Application held on 31 May 2011 and that the High Court judge
refused to postpone the handing down of the Judgment to hear
an inter-parties summons filed by Mr. Tin Lik on 29 June 2011.

On 22 July 2011, the representatives of the Manager, the Trustee
and Mr. Tin Lik attended an appointment before the listing officer
of Civil Appeal, and pursuant to the court’s directions dated 29
July 2011 the Appeal was set down for hearing at the Court of
Appeal of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“Court of Appeal”) on 23 November 2011.

On 23 November 2011, the Appeal was heard at the Court of
Appeal. The judgment of the Appeal was handed down on 21
December 2011. In the judgment of the Appeal, the Court of
Appeal has dismissed the Appeal. Accordingly the declaration
granted by the High Court in the Judgment, namely that the
Trustee should proceed with a distribution of the entirety of the
net assets of RREEF CCT without any retention to meet any
possible claim by Mr. Tin Lik, has been upheld.

As no application for leave to appeal to the Court of Final Appeal
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region was filed by Mr.
Tin Lik by 18 January 2012, being the end of the appeal period for
the Appeal, the appeal period for the Appeal has lapsed.

Separately, on 5 July 2011, Mr. Tin Lik issued a writ of summons
in the High Court as plaintiff against Deutsche Bank (“DB") as
first defendant, the Manager as second defendant and the
Trustee as third defendant.
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2 FEETHEE@

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued) (b) BIHEIRFZMEBEE (5
Pursuant to the Writ, Mr. Tin Lik makes certain claims (the HAOZREEZEASRPREETE
“Claims”) (note 8lii)), including amongst others: 8 (MF5E8(i) - EFBIENTIER -
1. against DB, the Manager and Trustee, jointly and severally, 1. HEZERT BEEAMZITA
challenging the amount under the set-off (note 9) and HEFMH %'Jhﬂ?ri'rﬁ B R (P

claiming, amongst other things, an entitlement to the Initial
Retention Amount under the sale and purchase agreement
dated 4 June 2007 and an amount of $289,426,166 which
Mr. Tin Lik claims to be refundable by the Trustee and/or the
Manager; and

2. against DB and the Manager, jointly and severally for
damages on certain matters as announced by the Manager
on 7 July 2011.

The opinion of the Board and the Trustee, on the basis of legal
advice, is that the Claims are wholly without merit and are being
vigorously defended by DB, the Manager and the Trustee. The
Writ has been set down for trial at the High Court from 16 to 30
September 2013.

As announced on 3 May 2012, the Proposed Delisting and the
Proposed Deauthorisation will occur as soon as practicable after
the Claims have been finally adjudicated by the High Court (or
otherwise withdrawn or determined) and after all of the assets of
RREEF CCT at that time (if any) have been distributed to
Unitholders pursuant to the Proposed Liguidation. Proceedings in
relation to the Claims are still ongoing as of 31 December 2012.

RREEF CCT is no longer considered by the Manager to be a
going concern. Accordingly, assets are valued at their estimated
realisable amounts and liabilities are stated at their estimated
settlement amounts, and provision for termination and liquidation
costs has been made as at 31 December 2012.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 14.

Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts, except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognised
when there is objective evidence of impairment and are
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate
where the effect of discounting is material. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Trust about events that have an impact on the asset's
estimated future cash flows such as significant financial difficulty
of the debtor.

Impairment losses for receivables whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Trust is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against receivables directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off directly
are recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Unitholders’ funds

In accordance with the Trust Deed, RREEF CCT has a limited life
of 80 years less 1 day from the date of commencement of RREEF
CCT, and RREEF CCT is required to distribute to Unitholders not
less than 90 per cent of its annual distributable income for each
financial year. Accordingly, the units contain contractual
obligations to pay cash dividends and also, upon the termination
of RREEF CCT, a share of all net cash proceeds derived from the
sale or realisation of the assets of RREEF CCT less any liabilities,
in accordance with their proportionate interests in RREEF CCT at
the date of its termination. The Unitholders’ funds are therefore
classified as financial liabilities in accordance with HKAS 32,
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also
arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets
and liabilities, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)

(h)

(U]

(1)

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Trust has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Trust and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Related parties
(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Trust if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Trust;
(i) has significant influence over the Trust; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Trust.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j) Related parties (continued)

2)

An entity is related to the Trust if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Trust are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate of joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of an entity related to the Trust.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).

A person identified in (1) (i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,

that person in their dealings with the entity.
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EETERERHMEREERES —E-EER
2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FESHEER@®
(k) Segment reporting (k) DEBIRE
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item SRR TARERTAES SHER
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the A B b [ DA R 5T 1k & TH 3 76 A0 &
financial information provided regularly to the Trust's most senior WMEHEE  MERRETEESRT
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources BERBREVBEL - ELEHR
to, and assessing the performance of, the Trust's various lines of Fo A HREEMBREPRENLE
businesses and geographical locations. DEME—HHBBEEREEE °
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for ERmMEBREANEEDATEE
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar MR ET FLES  BIEELD Y
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature WERENLESE  MBHEEMM
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the RGMHE  £AEREHEE  BFPHE
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the AR - A EE SRR
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory B EAREERBENELE RS
environment. Operating segments which are not individually IMRER M E WL IEBRERNLL S
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these HHEEN ERE D A ERK—
criteria. A EBF R o
3 Loss before taxation and transactions with 3 REBEREESEBENEEAR
Unitholders AR
Loss before taxation and transactions with Unitholders is arrived at A RARBESENHEARZAAE

after charging: BEMBRTFIE

2012 2011
—EB——F —T——F
$'000 $'000
T T
Manager's fees EBEABA 422 845
Other legal and professional fees (note (i) | EAthikR N E2EE A (7E1) 2,269 31,475
Trustee's fees ZHEAEBA 365 603
Auditor’s remuneration IZERET BN
— audit services —BZIR 500 1,000
Bank charges RITEA 5 1
(i) Other legal and professional fees for the year ended 31 i) HrekEXBERREE—T——
December 2011 represented the legal cost provision in relation to FH-A=+-RLFEHEEEH
the Appeal and the Claims. LHRRRAFLAERRHBE -
RREEF CCT did not appoint any director nor did it enter into any HE-T-—_F+-A=+-HILFER
employment contracts with counterparties during the years ended 31 “E-FT A=t RUEFESR
December 2012 and 31 December 2011. EEFMEESHBEZEENES - T

MG ETSIERELD -



64 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBRHTE

4

Income tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as RREEF CCT
did not earn any income assessable to Hong Kong Profits Tax during
the current and prior years.

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable

Frie®t

MR EERNEESRAFERBAFE
PR3 4 B A 1] 75 7% 19 T B SR BUBCA -
PRI L 30 48 A L BB R S B 4 o

BRI MEZERREGFEN ST ER

tax rates: BIETER -
2012 2011
—E-——fF —E——F
$000 $000
Fr FT
Loss before taxation BRE ARS8 (4,202) (33,896)
Notional tax on loss before #16.5% % (2011: 16.5%)
taxation calculated FTERBRTLAEE
at 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) COEZE e s (693) (5,593)
Tax effect of non-taxable income RHWANT B E (39) (1086)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR AS RIS 2 732 5,699
Actual tax expense for the year FEEBBIESLH - —

Segment Reporting

No segment information for the current and prior years is presented as
RREEF CCT did not generate any turnover during the years and the
operating results for the year were solely for the head office following
the Disposal.

Loss per unit before transactions with Unitholders

The loss per unit before transactions with Unitholders for the year
ended 31 December 2012 amounted to $0.009 (2011: $0.073). The
calculation of basic loss per unit before transactions with Unitholders
is based on the RREEF CCT's loss for the year before transactions with
Unitholders of $4,202,000 (2011: $33,896,000) and the weighted
average number of 464,161,000 (2011: 464,161,000) units in issue
during the year.

As there were no potential dilutive units in issue during the current and
prior years, diluted loss per unit is the same as the basic loss per unit.

7 EPE
EEMEESRAEERBEFENLS
BERE  LARFNEERLE BRI
% LR BB I 5 H
a1 27 -

HESBENVBEEARZAINEHE
ELEBNEFE
BE_Z——F+-A=+—HIFE&
ESBURBARSINEGEESSENE
REER0.009T (BE-ZT——F+2A
= +—HLFEAE0.0737T) - BES BN
BEARSINEGEESBNEREIRT
BEEEEHNEESHNERESBUEE
AR SR E1E 54,202,000 (BE=Z
——4f®+-_A=Z+-—BLFEEB
33,896,0007T) & Hi A &9 hn i F 15 &
464,161,000 BE-Z——&+-fF=+
—HILFE A464,161,000) AE EITES
BAIETH ©
BRAFERBAFEGREESSBMERE

WEEEEE  RUBR25SEESSEM
BEEE -
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7 Cash and cash equivalents
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7 BERAEEEY

Below are the details of other legal costs provision at the end of

2012 2011
—E—=fF —E——F
$000 $000
Fr Fir
Deposits with banks IRITE TR 48,007 190,000
Cash at bank and in hand BITERRES 5,533 16,445
53,540 206,445
8 Other payables and accruals 8 HttEMNREKERER
2012 2011
—E-C-F —E——F
$000 $000
F5 ¥
Termination and liquidation costs (note (i)) | #1FRBERER (L) 2,979 3,711
Other legal costs provision (note(ii)) EAtbsE 2B AR B EE) 27,384 33,539
Other payables and E b ERTRIE R
accruals (note (iii)) TR A (P &EGi) 2,319 2,848
Manager's fees payable ENEEAEBA
(note 13(c)(iii) (FH5E13(c) i) a1 138
33,123 40,236
(i)  The amount represents the estimated termination and liquidation (i ZFBLAEEERMEESHRIEEE
expenses of RREEF CCT. BEFTER -
(i) Other legal costs provision represents estimated legal costs in (i) RIBELZOANMBREIGER  Eax
relation to the Claims under relevant provisions of the Trust Deed. BREBRABERBHERE E'M_EEJF\ rEE
=18
Movement of other legal costs provision during the year are as REANEMERERABENES W
follows: N
2012 2011
—B-=fF —E——%F
$000 $000
F5 Fi
At 1 January *—HA—H 33,539 8,000
Additional provisions made FEINEHE - 30,500
Provisions utilised BEARNERE (6,155) (4,961)
At 31 December w+—-—A=+—H 27,384 33,539

T REMEREBBREER RS HR

the reporting period: HIEEIE
2012 2011
—E-C-F —E——F
$000 $000
F5 Fr
Manager's legal counsel, Clifford Chance | B2 AJAZEEM — =B EM =57 9,330 13,124
Trustee’s legal counsel, Linklaters ERNEEZER - FREEMERHAT 18,054 20,415
27,384 33,639

(i) Included in other payables and accruals is an amount due to

Trustee of $60,000 (2011: $300,000).

(i) EMENREBEREREALERENT
(EARIE60,000T (ZE——4F :

300,0007T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBRHTE

RREEF CCT is in the process of termination and liquidation, details of
which are set out in note 2(b) to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, RREEF CCT has no
borrowing.

Amount due to the Vendor 9 ENERFNE
2012 2011
—E—CfF —E——fF
$000 $000
Fr T
Retention of proceeds on acquisition WS RIERE ¢ 156,000 156,000
Balance of initial unpaid consideration BHRRNRELE S 114,955 114,955
Retention of the Vendor's unit distribution | EHE & BN DIRFE S 16,542 16,542
Amounts set-off HEHFIA (276,597) (276,597)
10,900 10,900
In the year ended 31 December 2012, the Manager, on the basis of HE-_Z——F+-_A=+—HIEFE "
legal advice, has maintained its rights of set-off against the amount BIEAGCREEREER®E  DREBEKE
due to the Vendor to compensate the Trust's losses and/or additional M ERENE A FIE - UEERETN
expenses incurred. BREKSKELNEINES
This balance of $10,900,000 as at 31 December 2012 represents the RZE—ZF+ZA=+—BH&E&H
Manager's present and provisional calculation of the amount payable to 10,900,000 CHEE B A AT REZ A E AR
the Vendor. This is a non-binding indication which remains subject to HELMREREBRGTE - WARTER
subsequent developments (see notes 2(b) and 14(i)). EEMENTELORDES (RHF20) &%
14(i))
The Manager had notified the Vendor in advance of the set-offs being ERADBENGEEFMITENEE - B
exercised. In the Appeal and the Claims, the Vendor stated that he FTHERE BEFELEYEERELR
disputes the set-offs. The Appeal has been dismissed and the Claims o LHREEBEmRENEETE
are currently ongoing as outlined in note 2(b). Based on the legal HIEELMWE20) - BEFRKINEEE
advice received, the Manager remains of the view that those set-offs B -BREADARE EZT—ZF+=
are appropriate and legitimate as at 31 December 2012. A=+—Hit  ZSEHEREEEREE -
10 Units in issue 10 ERTESEN
There was no repurchase, sale or redemption of RREEF CCT units and HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HIEFER
no new units were issued for year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 —E——HF+_A=+—HILFE 1E
respectively. The total number of units in issue was 464,161,000 as at o HEXBOAMNEERHNEESE
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011. L BWHEmBTHESEMN N _F——F
TZA=+—HR-E——F+ A=+
—HRBETAS BN LS AE464,161,000
& -
11 Capital management 11 ESEE

EEREHEESREETRIENBRE
Fr - AR BEF2HM B MR E20)

RZE——F+-_A=+t—HBER=_Z——
FT+_A=t—HE=ERHMEESWEML
fEE -
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BETEREEHERAGIEES

12 Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of RREEF CCT's business. RREEF CCT's financial
risk management policies and practices in managing these risks are
described below.

(a)

(b)

Credit risk
Matters relating specifically to the Vendor are referred to in note 9
to the financial statements.

All the Trust's cash and cash equivalents are deposited with
financial institutions in Hong Kong that are of sound credit
standing.

At the end of the reporting period, the Trust does not hold any
other assets which are exposed to significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

RREEF CCT's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRIEE

12 Financial risk management and fair values (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of RREEF CCT's financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows

(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or,

if floating, based on prevailing rates at the end of the reporting
period) and the earliest date RREEF CCT is expected to pay:

12 cREMREERAAEBE®

(b) FWEE S ()
TR EEFHEESSHEER
BEMRRBOEOEHNA - FerA
WEHA TR HRBERRERE (B
ERBOERN R (% 8) RS 5
REAONEEFERF SN ARE
ERMEESBRNRZ&F A G

R
2012
—EB-—F
More than More than
Total Within 1year 2 years
contractual 1 year but less but less
undiscounted oron than than More
Carrying cash flow demand 2 years 5 years than
amount BRRER 1FR 1FHUE 26k 5 years
REE RERBEE FERER 2F LR 5F LR 5FEL L
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr
Other payables and HAb R HIE
accruals (excluding RTERER (KRIER
termination and BRERREM
liquidation and other ERBREBERIN
legal costs provision) 2,760 2,760 2,760 - - -
Amount due to the Vendor | FEfS & 78 10,900 10,900 10,900 - - -
13,660 13,660 13,660 - - -
2011
—g——F
More than More than
Total Within 1 year 2 years
contractual 1 year but less but less
undiscounted oron than than More
Carrying cash flow demand 2 years 5 years than
amount B HIREHR 1F M 1A E 2F A L 5 years
REE RERBRERE RIRER 2F AR 5E AR 5L £
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T T
Other payables and HAb R IE
accruals (excluding RTERER (RIER
termination and BRERREM
liquidation and other ERBRBERIN
legal costs provision) 2,986 2,986 2,986 — — —
Amount due to the Vendor | FEfS & 78 10,900 10,900 10,900 — — —
13,886 13,886 13,886 — — —
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12 Financial risk management and fair values (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk

RREEF CCT is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its
cash and deposit balances. RREEF CCT has not used any
derivative financial instruments to manage the interest rate risk
during the current and prior years and the Manager is of the
opinion that current exposure to interest rate risk is within an
acceptable range.

As at 31 December 2012, RREEF CCT does not hold any assets

and/or liabilities which would expose RREEF CCT to significant
interest rate risk.

Currency risk

As at 31 December 2012, RREEF CCT is not exposed to currency
risk as all of RREEF CCT's assets and liabilities are denominated

in Hong Kong Dollars.

Estimation of fair value

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair value as at 31 December 2012 and 31
December 2011.

13 Material Related Party Transactions

(a)

During the year, RREEF CCT entered into the following
transactions with certain Connected Persons and / or related
parties under the REIT Code and HKAS 24, Related party
disclosures:

Connected Person/related party
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12 SRiEREERAAEE®

(c)

= EE

EEEHWEECTERNMBHRBENR
S REFEGMAENERE - RA
FERBEFE BEFRHEESY
EERETATESRTAEENEME
B MEEARSRANERRA T

BF -

R-E-——"%+-A=+—8B &E
FHERSIRIEELMEER
RERMSBREEFHERSARE
REFIRER -

¥ E R
R-_E——HF+-_A=+—HH &
EHEESIEBEMNERRR - A
EERMEASMANEERBES
A TTAIE ©

——H+-A=t—R BEEBT
BEMJEREEARBEEEAEERE
Al e

13 EXBHARS

(a)

FR- EERMEESEE TR

TRSEEE S (REBE(EHERER
AEETAD KBRS ENFE -+
PSRRREA L) AT TR S

Relationship with the Trust

BEAL BAES HEFENER
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) The Trustee of RREEF CCT
Limited (“the Trustee") ZERMERSRATITA

ESRBETRS (TN BRAR ([KFEAD)

HSBC Holdings Plc and its associates
and other members of its group
(collectively referred to as “"HSBC Group”)
ELERAERARREBEATIAR
ZEEEMK B AR (FEELEE])

RREEF China REIT Management Limited
EETHERESERARAA

Connected Persons of the Trustee

REAMEEAL

The Manager of RREEF CCT
EERMEESNEREA
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13 Material Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b)

13 EXRBEBARS @

Balances with related parties are as follows: (b) EARA:EF 2 BMEHRINT
2012 2011
—E-——fF —E——fF
$000 $:000
Fr FT
Net amount due to: FEIBRFFRE
- The Trustee —ZFA (60) (300)
— The Manager —EEBA (441) (138)
Deposits and cash placed with EENELEE
HSBC Group WIFR KRS 53,540 1,098
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere (c) BAMBHREEMBIBENZSH R

in these financial statements, RREEF CCT entered into following ErO EEEHEEESRFEARNRL
material related party transactions during the year: TIEKBE XS :

2012 2011
—E-——fF —E——fF
$000 $:000
Fx Fr
Manager's fees (note (ii)) EEAEA M) 422 845
Trustee's fees (note (iii)) ZEEA B (i) 365 603

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

These transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of
business on normal commercial terms.

The Manager's fees are calculated based on a base fee of 0.4% per
annum on the value of the Deposited Property plus a variable fee of
3% per annum on the Net Property Income as defined in the Trust
Deed.

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee is entitled to receive a
remuneration of not more than 0.03% per annum on the value of the
Deposited Property as defined in the Trust Deed with a provision for
further increments up to a maximum of 0.06% per annum on the
value of the Deposited Property, subject to a minimum fee of $50,000
per month. Effective from 1 July 2012, the Trustee's fee was reduced
to $10,000 per month.

BAE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

HEXGTINLEEREBRETRER
7 SRR T o

ERANBRRFEVEEENESZ
EHMAFERAE) NEABR ML
EREHEENMERENFEEDZ
= (AFERHE) I EMIH -

RIBELEHELY  ZEABRKIES
ZHNEENFEVNEEETBRAE S
ZEHT= (AFRFE)NME -
ZME AN ESER AT ENEREE
MEDZEHTENAFRFTE) - M
={K& M A% A50,000T - B =% —
—F+LA—HR ZRABARES
5 10,0007T °
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14 Accounting estimates

The key sources of estimation in applying RREEF CCT's accounting
policies are described below.

(i) Amount due to the Vendor
The amount due to the Vendor is the net amount owing to Mr. Tin
Lik, the Vendor. This amount may be subject to future revisions by
the Manager, subject to legal advice.

(ii) Termination and liquidation costs and other legal costs
provisions
The final amounts are dependent on the progress of the Claims.

As announced on 3 May 2012, in the event there is a shortfall in
the provisions amounts, any additional costs, fees and expenses
incurred in the name of either the Manager, the Trustee or RREEF
CCT exceeding the amounts already provided will be borne by the
Manager and/or the Trustee in such proportions to be agreed
between themselves.

15 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and

interpretations issued but not yet effective for the
year ended 31 December 2012

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments and five new standards which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2012 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements.

The Manager is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is
unlikely to have a significant impact on RREEF CCT's results of
operations and financial position.
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EREEFHEESHSHBRE I8
EEFERIREFI 0T -

() ENEIRE
BREMNBN - EHEFIE - IR
BERHEEARBERZERATENARRK
fEHER -

(i) RERBREBEAREMEZEERARE

EEENE R ER R B REURNRE
EEEME

B =T ——FRA-HAEMER
WEEHBSTEAZ M ERMEEREA -
XAEASEEEHERESHE TEHEDN
N - BRRFE  SHREEAR
SEZEANEF RSB ENLA D
.

BE-_EZ——H+=-A=+—H
IHFESTHHECEMEMRE
W2 IBET ~ ERRBEBIRET
RzZ&
HEZSYBREATERE  SE S5
NEREHEEHEE T ——F+_A=
T—HIEFERMRER BT RAEHRE
Bl - b SEEET RREERING R A L S B B Rk
A o

EEARLZFETNERERRRE
SAETRZEEENG  LOBR/EM
HEBIITANEHEESHWEES 2K
BRERPBERNBREATZE -
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Corporate Information
BEER

The Manager

RREEF China REIT Management Limited
Registered Office:

Level 52 International Commerce Center

1 Austin Road West

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2203 7872

Fax: +852 2203 7995

Email: enquiry@rreefchinatrust.com
Website: www.rreefchinatrust.com

Board of Directors of the Manager

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior

Executive Directors
Mr. Stephen Paul HARRIS (Appointed on 14 September 2012)

Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH (Resigned on 14 September 2012)

Mr. Niel THASSIM (Resigned on 14 September 2012)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Stephen James Thomas SHAW (Appointed on 14 September 2012)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jack Richard RODMAN

Mr. Mark Henry FORD

Dr. MENG Xiaosu

Responsible Officers of the Manager
Mr. Stephen Paul HARRIS (Appointed on 14 September 2012)

Ms. Michele Mi-kyung Bang (Appointed on 14 September 2012)
Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH (Resigned on 14 September 2012)

Mr. Niel THASSIM (Resigned on 14 September 2012)

Trustee

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited
1 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong

EIE A

EETEERESEEFRAT
EMBER

BB

SR T AER R
REESESA T &

®5E ¢ +852 2203 7872

f5H : +852 2203 7995

BH : enquiry@rreefchinatrust.com
#Bhk - www.rreefchinatrust.com

EEAEES

IERFEIITES
Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior4t 4

HITES

Stephen Paul HARRIS A (R=F—=F N A+
MM HE 1)

Paul Thomas KEOGH% A (R =ZE——F N A+
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Jack Richard RODMANSE 4
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HEHT)
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Legal Counsel
Clifford Chance
28/F, Jardine House
1 Connaught Place
Central, Hong Kong

Unit Registrar

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Company Secretary of the Manager
Ms. HO Wing Tsz Wendy

Auditors of RREEF CCT

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

Stock Code
625

Unitholder Enquiries/Investor Relations

Your feedback is valuable. If you have any queries,
please contact us at:

Investor Relations

RREEF China REIT Management Limited

as the Manager of RREEF China Commercial Trust
Contact Person: Stephen Paul HARRIS

Level 52 International Commerce Center
1 Austin Road West

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2203 7872

Fax: +852 2203 7995

Email: enquiry@rreefchinatrust.com
Website: www.rreefchinatrust.com
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RREEF China REIT Management Limited
Level 52, International Commerce Centre
1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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BRESESA T2

Tel BF : +852 2203 7872

Fax H : +852 2203 7995

Email & : enquiry@rreefchinatrust.com

www.rreefchinatrust.com
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